IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. 70,295

BRET CLARK,

Respondent,

vs.

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant.



APR 11 1988

CLERK SUPREME COURT

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE REPORT

OF THE REFREE IN A DISCIPLINARY MATTER

INITIAL BRIEF FOR RESPONDENT

BRET SHAWN CLARK, ESQUIRE P.O. Box 53-1131 Miami Shores, Florida 33153-1131 (305) 757-8515

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

AND OF THE FACTS

This is a petition for review of a report of the referee in a disciplinary proceeding brought against Respondent by the Florida Bar. In this brief Respondent Bret S. Clark, Esquire shall be referred to as "Clark" or "Respondent." The Florida Bar shall be referred to as the "Bar." References to the record shall be made to the excerpts thereof contained in the accompanying appendix prepared pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220.

This section of the brief is divided into two parts. The first part sets forth the underlying facts upon which the Bar based the disciplinary proceedings commenced against Respondent. The second part of this section then describes those proceedings that eventually led to the report of the referee and the instant petition for review of that report.

I. THE FACTS

The Bar combined two seperate matters in the proceedings brought against Respondent. The first matter concerned an opinion filed by former Chief Justice Warren Burger in appeal proceedings brought by Clark to review an assessment of attorney's fees by the Fifth District Court of Appeal. All-Al4.

The second matter concerned a complaint filed by Clark naming a Judge of the Eleventh Circuit Court in and for Dade County, Florida, as a party defendant to the suit, pursuant to an order entered by the presiding United States District Court Judge in that action. Al4-Al7.

No testimony was offered by the Bar in the proceedings below in support of the allegations made in the complaint filed against Respondent, with the exception of the statements voluntarily provided by Respondent under oath in the informal proceeding had before the Referee. Respondent primarily relies upon the record of the proceedings at issue in each matter for which the Bar seeks to impose disciplinary sanctions against him to support the statement of the facts.

A. THE BURGER INCIDENT

Respondent was admitted as a member of the Florida Bar on January 20, 1984. All, Al8. Prior thereto, he received a traffic citation charging him with exceeding the speed limit, and was found guilty in a proceeding before the County Court in and for Lake County, Florida. Id. At the time Respondent was cited for this infraction, the Florida State Trooper issuing the citation stated that if Respondent chose to contest the infraction, the County Court would impose twice the amount of the original fine, as part of an established "double or nothing" sentencing policy of the court. A38.

The County Court assessed a fine of \$100.00, exactly twice the original fine of \$50.00. A38.

Respondent filed an appeal from this ruling to the appellate division of the Fifth Judicial Circuit in and for Lake County, Florida. All, Al8. On September 4, 1984, nearly two years after the original ruling of the Lake County Court, the appellate division affirmed without explanation. Al2, Al8. Respondent, however, did not receive this order until January 14, 1985. Id.

On February 14, 1985, Respondent filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Fifth District Court of Appeal. <u>Id</u>. In the petition, he argued that the petition should be considered timely on the grounds that the clerk of the lower court had deviated from Florida statutes regarding notice in such cases, and that he had been deprived of due process. A37-A38.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal on March 12, 1985, entered an order directed to the State of Florida to show cause why the Petition for Writ of Certiorari should not be granted. A43. After a response to the Court's order by the State, but prior to the time within which Respondent was entitled to file a reply thereto, the District Court dismissed the petition for want of jurisdiction. A12, A18.

Respondent then filed a motion for rehearing of the Court's order, which was stricken as untimely by the court on the grounds

that the additional period of time provided in Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.420(d) for responding to documents served by mail does not apply to orders of the court. Al2-Al3, Al8-Al9. Respondent then filed a motion requesting the Court to reconsider the order dismissing the petition on its own motion. Id.

In reply to that motion the State moved for an assessment of attorney's fees against Respondent under Florida Statute section 57.105 for having to review and respond to the motion. <u>Id</u>. The response of the State amounted to little more than a personal attack against Respondent, and argued that since the term of court had expired after the motion had been filed, and that the court did not issue a mandate anyway, the motion was frivolous. A45-A46.

The Court of Appeals denied Respondent's motion, and further ordered him to show cause within five days why the request for fees should not be granted. A47. The court then entered an order assessing \$100.00 in attorney's fees. A13, A18. Thereafter, Respondent filed a timely motion for review of the order assessing attorney's fees, attacking the constitutionality of Florida Statute section 57.105. A13, A20.

On September 12, 1985, the Court of Appeals denied the motion for review of the fee award. A48. After confirming by correspondence with the Clerk that this Court lacked jurisdiction of that order, Respondent filed an appeal to the United States

Supreme Court on December 9, 1985. Al4, Al8.

Under Rule 16 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of the United States, the State was required to file a motion to affirm or to dismiss the appeal within thirty days. The State failed to do so. On February 28, 1986, the Supreme Court directed the State to file a response to the appeal pursuant to Rule 16. A49.

The State then filed a motion asking the Supreme Court to dismiss the appeal on the grounds that the Court of Appeals relied upon Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.400(d) to assess fees against Respondent, not Florida Statute section 57.105, and thus the constitutionality of the later had not been passed upon. A53-A54.

In the alternative the State argued that the motion to review the award of fees should be construed as an untimely motion for rehearing, through which Respondent would not be entitled to raise the constitutionality of Florida Statute section 57.105, and thus could not raise the issue before the Supreme Court. A54-A57.

On April 28, 1986 the Supreme Court issued a memorandum decision in the case stating that the "appeal is dismissed for want of jurisdiction. Treating the papers whereon the appeal was taken as a petition for writ of certiorari, certiorari is denied." Clark v. Florida, 106 S.Ct. 1784 (1986).

Former Chief Justice Burger wrote a seperate opinion, which contained derogatory comments of a personal nature against Clark, including references to Respondent as a "small boy" given "a loaded pistol without instruction as to when and how it is to be used" and that Respondent "considers the judicial system a laboratory where small boys can play." 106 S.Ct. 1784- 1787. No other Justice joined in this opinion.

Shortly thereafter, the former Chief Justice resigned.

B. THE BARAD COMPLAINT

In March of 1983 a foreclosure action was filed against Rose Merle in the Eleventh Circuit Court in and for Dade County Florida, under a claimed mechanic's lien. A77. This complaint, and similar complaints filed against others, are allegedly filed for the purpose of depriving homeowners of their residences or to extort monies from these individuals as part of a scheme to defraud consumers contracting for home "improvement" services. A77-A83.

Mrs. Merle appeared several times before presiding Judge Frederick Barad in the foreclosure suit, until eventually retaining Respondent as her attorney, after Judge Barad threatened to hold her in contempt for questioning the propriety of his orders. A77.

Respondent removed the case into the United States District

Court for the Southern District of Florida, on the grounds, <u>interallia</u>, that she was deprived of, and unable to enforce, her equal civil rights in the state court, because of alleged discrimination against her. A78.

The removed case was then remanded, in part, because Rose Merle, who is of Hispanic descent, had not alleged race discrimination, as opposed to nationality discrimination, in her petition. A78. Respondent obtained a stay of this remand pending appeal. A78.

Despite the stay order of the federal court, Judge Barad proceeded with an ex parte trial without notice and entered a partial final judgment against Mrs. Merle. A78, A81. This judgment was eventually reversed through the efforts of Respondent. Merle v. Florida State Constructors Service, Inc., 472 So.2d 558 (3rd DCA 1985).

During the course of these proceedings, Judge Barad exhibited great hostility towards Mrs. Merle, and in favor of the adverse party, and consistently ruled against her. Al5, Al9, A82. The Judge, however, refused to grant her Motion for Disqualification, based upon allegations of discriminatory treatment, ordering her to "take me up on it." A78. On November 27, 1985, Respondent obtained a writ of prohibition against Judge Barad. Merle v. Barad, 480 So.2d 1315 (3rd DCA 1985).

Prior to the issuance of the writ of prohibition against Judge Barad, the Judge continued to hold hearings and enter orders without jurisdiction and in violation of stay orders entered by the federal courts. A78. Respondent filed suit in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida regarding the foreclosure proceedings under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO") and under the civil rights laws of the United States. A15, A18, A70-A85.

On April 24, 1985, Respondent appeared before the District Court for a hearing on a motion seeking preliminary declaratory and injunctive relief against the parties seeking foreclosure in the state action. Al4, Al9. In response to a query of the presiding Judge, Respondent stated that Judge Barad was an active participant in a RICO violation. Al5, A20.

The federal court ordered Mrs. Merle to amend the complaint to clarify the issues raised in the suit, and to include Judge Barad as a defendant to the action. A59-A69. Respondent prepared a Second Amended Complaint as directed, which contained specific factual allegations in support of the claims raised. A70-A86.

Included in the complaint filed by Respondent on behalf of Mrs. Merle and those persons similarly situated were allegations of retaliation by members of the state court against individuals and groups involved in the legal reform movement for political activities that were highly critical of the legal system.

A79-A80. These activities included a "courtwatch" program, leafleting, and picketing outside the courthouse. Id.

On August 11, 1987, the federal court dismissed the suit filed against Judge Barad on the grounds of official immunity from suit. A87-A88.

II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

In a letter dated May 13, 1986, the Bar requested Respondent's position regarding a newspaper account of the Burger incident attached to the letter. The Bar failed to identify any specific allegation of unethical conduct by Respondent.

On August 11, 1986 the Bar again wrote to Clark, requesting his response as to whether his statement that Judge Barad was an active participant in a RICO violation constitutes a violation of Disciplinary Rules 8-102 (13) and 1-102(A)(6). In reply Clark requested that the Bar reveal the source of the complaint. The Bar never responded to that request.

Neither allegation of unethical conduct was prompted by a complaint filed against Clark.

A grievance committee of the Eleventh Circuit Court in and for Dade County, Florida convened on the evening of October $2\emptyset$, 1986 to consider both matters. No witnesses were subpoensed to

testify by the Bar. The same day the committee found probable cause that Clark had violated the Code of Professional Responsibility.

Over five months later, the Bar filed a complaint in this Court in two counts for alleged professional misconduct. All-Al7. The first count alleged that Respondent knowingly advanced a claim or defense that is unwarranted under existing law by filing untimely or inappropriate pleadings, and allegedly for citing law that had been reversed. All-14.

The second count alleged that Respondent knowingly made false accusations against a judge. Al4-Al7. Both counts also included the general allegation that Respondent engaged in conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

Clark filed an answer to the complaint admitting portions thereof and denying others, and denying that he had engaged in unethical conduct. Al8-A20. The answer included as affirmative defenses (1) that the Bar failed to state a claim and had failed to meet its burden of proof; (2) that the prosecution of the complaint against him by the Bar violated the First Amendment; and (3) that the Bar was collaterally estopped. A21.

The discovery conducted by the Bar consisted solely of a request for admissions duplicating the allegations of the complaint, and Respondent's response thereto. A24-A29, A30-A36.

Judge John A. Miller of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida was appointed by the Court to act as referee on April 9, 1987. Judge Miller was directed to try the matter in Dade County, Florida and to submit his report within 180 days.

Eight months later, a brief hearing was convened by Judge Miller in his chambers at Fort Lauderdale, Florida. The Bar subpoeaned no witnesses to testify and introduced few documents in support of the allegations made in the complaint.

On January 9, 1988, Judge Miller issued a report. The findings of fact contained in the report were copied virtually verbatim from the complaint filed by the Bar. Al-A4, All-Al5. Judge Miller also copied the recommendations as to guilt from the proposed report prepared by the Bar for his signature. A6.

In imposing sanctions against Clark, Judge Miller likened his consideration of the proceedings brought by the Bar to football and hockey games observed by the Judge, concluding that Clark erred in "not knowing when to keep one's mouth shut." A9. To support this view Judge Miller attributed certain statements to Clark and made statements of fact not reflected in the record or otherwise. A6-A10.

Judge Miller also stated this Court held that "the First Amendment does not bar disciplining an attorney for accusations

against the judiciary" in response to issues raised during the proceedings. A7.

Judge Miller then found that Clark was not unfit to practice law, but that he was "unfit" by "virtue of having been found to have violated Disciplinary Rules (sic) 1-102(A)(6)." Al0.

The report recommends that Clark be publically reprimanded, although he had already been sufficiently reprimanded by former Chief Justice Burger. A9-Al0. The report also recommends that Clark bear one half of the costs of the proceedings. Al0.

Whereupon, the instant petition for review of the report was filed by the Respondent. No cross petition was filed by the Bar.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent has divided the argument portion of this brief into two parts. The first part demonstrates that the Bar wholly failed to produce evidence sufficient to support a finding that Respondent violated any rule of professional ethics, and that the report itself contains insufficient factual findings to support the recommendations of the Referee that this Court impose sanctions against Respondent.

The second part of the argument section advances the position that, in the unlikely event that the Court finds that

Respondent has violated a rule of professional ethics, then under the facts of this case the rule in question is void as repugnant to the United States Constitution and must therefore be declared unconstitutional by this Court.

ARGUMENT

These proceedings present important issues concerning the proper relationship between attorneys and the judiciary. Like all government agencies, the courts are bound by the principles contained in the constitution, principles that restrict government officials, including judges, from imposing sanctions against any person, including an attorney, for the exercise by that attorney of rights protected by the First Amendment.

In the instant case the Bar asks this Court to impose such sanctions against the Respondent.

The rules of professional conduct, however, obviously do not contemplate that they be applied in a situation that would directly infringe upon the constitutional rights of attorneys, or that they would otherwise be applied in such a manner as to contradict the constitution that every attorney and judge is sworn to uphold.

Consequently, the primary contention of Respondent in these

proceedings is that the facts in this case simply do not support the recommendation that he be disciplined. Accordingly, the report of the Referee must be rejected and the matter dismissed.

I. THE FINDINGS CONTAINED IN THE REFEREE'S REPORT ARE NOT SUBSTANTIATED

As previously set forth in this brief, the proceedings leading to the report filed by the Referee were extremely brief and informal, conducted almost as a necessary formality to the inevitable conclusion eventually reached by the Referee. The report itself contains as findings of fact the allegations set forth in the complaint filed by the Bar copied almost verbatim, many of which were clearly erroneous.

By simply copying the complaint filed by the Bar, and the recommendations as to guilt prepared by the Bar for his signature, the Referee abdicated his responsibility to conduct a true hearing, calculated to determining the facts in issue for the purpose of reaching reasoned conclusions. The Referee imposed no burden of proof upon the Bar, simply taking as true facts and conclusions that a simple review of the record refutes.

The result is a report riddled with factual findings at variance with the truth, concluding with a nearly incoherent application of these facts, and others not evidenced in the

record, to the Referee's personal philosophy regarding the proper conduct of atheletes during sporting events.

But even given the erroneous factual determinations made by the Referee, the report fails to even set forth specific factual findings necessary to support the conclusion that Respondent violated any rule of professional conduct. In short, the Referee simply failed to establish any basis to discipline Respondent.

A. NO EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDINGS

IN THE REPORT REGARDING THE BURGER INCIDENT

In the so-called Burger Incident, Clark is charged with the violation of Disciplinary Rule 7-102(A)(2), which provides in relevant part that a lawyer shall not:

Knowingly advance a claim or defense that is unwarranted under existing law, except that he may advance such claim or defense if it can be supported by good faith argument for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law.

Ethical Consideration 7-4 explains this limit to the countervailing requirement that a lawyer zealously represent a client, by pointing out that a lawyer's conduct is permissible if the position taken is either supported by the law, or is supportable by a good faith extension, modification, or reversal of the law.

The comments to the new rule 4-3.1 further explain the purpose of this rule by noting that the law is not always clear

and is never static. An action becomes frivolous when the motive for taking the action on the part of the client is primarily to harrass or maliciously injure a person or if the lawyer is unable to support the action taken by a good faith argument for an extension, modification or reversal of exisiting law.

The findings contained in the report of the Referee in support of the contention that Clark advanced an unsupportable position state that Respondent breached the code of ethics by (1) not filing the petition for writ of certiorari within thirty days of the order affirming the ruling of the county court; (2) requesting the District Court of Appeal to reconsider its order of dismissal; (3) filing a motion to review the order assessing attorney's fees; and (4) filing an appeal to the United States Supreme Court.

No where in these findings does Judge Miller specifically conclude that Clark filed any of these documents knowing that the positions asserted were unfounded in the law, or, in fact, that these positions are not supported in the law. No legal arguments or citations of authority were presented by the Bar to refute the positions asserted in these documents, nor do any such reference to authority appear in the Referee's report.

To justify the conclusion that the positions asserted were not supportable in the law, thus calling for sanctions against Respondent, the Referee simply states that:

Clearly, in the traffic matter, Mr. Clark just didn't make the rule book and regardless of how justified he thought his position was, he was never in the ballgame.

A review of the record reveals that the Referee, by copying the proposed report proferred by the Bar as his findings of fact and recommendations as to guilt, failed to establish the veracity of these proposed findings by simply reviewing the record before containing these erroneous findings in the report. Upon a review of the record this Court must conclude that these findings are unsubstantiated by the evidence, and therefore must be rejected.

1. THE PETITION FOR CERTIORARI

In the petition for certiorari filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal Respondent himself recognized the jurisdictional issue posed by the fact that the petition was not filed within thirty days of the order of the lower Circuit Court, and provided legal arguments in support of his position that the court did have jurisdiction. After reviewing the petition, including these arguments, the court entered an order to show cause why the petition should not be granted.

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.100(f) provides in relevant part that upon the filing of such a petition, the court may issue an order to show cause if:

the petition demonstrates a preliminary basis for relief, a departure from the essential requirements of law, or that review of final agency action would not provide an adequate remedy * * *.

Clearly the entry of the order to show cause by the appellate court precludes the conclusion that Respondent presented a position in filing the petition that was unwarranted under existing law. Yet the Referee found fault with this position, without reference to legal authority in support of this criticism nor even addressing this point raised by Clark in the proceedings below.

2. THE REQUEST FOR RECONSIDERATION

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