IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



ANSWER BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent attempts to have this Honorable Court conduct a trial de novo of this disciplinary matter. This Court has held on numerous occasions that the findings of a Referee in a disciplinary matter are presumed correct and not to be reversed unless these findings are proven to be clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. Therefore, an appeal to this Court should not be used to conduct a trial de novo of factual findings.

The Respondent has failed to show that the Referee's findings, in reference to the appeal of his traffic ticket to the Supreme Court in reference United States and to certain unsubstantiated derogatory remarks about members of the are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary judiciary, support.

The Respondent argues that he cannot be disciplined in this instance as to do so would violate his First Amendment Right to Freedom of Speech. This argument is clearly without merit as this Honorable Court and others have held that an attorney may be disciplined for making unsubstantiated or untruthful remarks about members of the judiciary, notwithstanding the First Amendment.

In light of the foregoing the findings of the Referee must be upheld and the Respondent should be publicly reprimanded for his unethical acts.

POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS MUST BE UPHELD SINCE THEY ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS NOR ARE THEY LACKING IN EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT?

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS NOR ARE THEY LACKING IN EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT AND THEREFORE, THESE FINDINGS MUST BE UPHELD

This Honorable Court has held that a Referee's findings of fact in an attorney disciplinary proceeding are presumed correct. <u>The Florida Bar v. Neely</u>, 502 So.2d 1237, 1238 (Fla. 1987). Additionally, this Court has decided that these findings will be upheld unless it can be shown that the findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Golden</u>, 502 So.2d 891, 892 (Fla. 1987); <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Hooper</u>, 507 So.2d 1078, 1979 (Fla. 1987). An application of these standards to the case sub judice, clearly indicates that the Respondent has failed to meet his burden and therefore his appeal should be denied.

In essence, the Respondent would like this Honorable Court to reevaluate the facts of this case and find that the Respondent did not breach the Code of Professional Responsibility. However, for this Court to reevaluate the facts of this case would be giving the Respondent a trial de novo. This Court has stated that the Supreme Court of Florida will not conduct a trial de novo of a disciplinary matter. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hooper</u>, 509 So.2d 289, 290 (Fla. 1987).

The Respondent attempts to find fault with the Report of Referee, simply because his findings of fact are identical to the Complaint that was filed by the Complainant. The Respondent claims that this action by the Referee was an abdication of the

Referee's responsibilities. However, what the Respondent fails to realize is that the Referee found that the Bar had met its burden of proof and that the Bar had established the allegations contained in the Complaint. Thus, the Referee adopted the allegations contained in the Complaint, as the statement of facts proved at the Final Hearing of this matter.

A. THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT THE RESPONDENT VIOLATED DISCI-PLINARY RULE 1-102(A)(6) AND DISCIPLINARY RULE 7-102(A) (2) OF THE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY REGARDING THE APPEAL OF HIS TRAFFIC TICKET.

Disciplinary Rule 7-102(A) (2) of the Code of Professional Responsibility dictates that a lawyer shall not:

Knowingly advance a claim or defense that is unwarranted under existing law, except that he may advance such claim or defense if it can be supported by a good faith argument for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law.

It is the Respondent's contention that he did not violate this Disciplinary Rule and that the record reflects that every step he undertook regarding his appeal of his traffic ticket to the United States Supreme Court, was a good faith argument for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law. At this juncture it is important to distinguish between the merits of the Respondent's ticket case and the Rules of Appellate Procedure which the Respondent refused to follow in fighting this traffic ticket. It is this failure to follow the simple Rules of Appellate Procedure that resulted in a stinging opinion by Chief Justice Warren Burger² and not the actual merits

²The Respondent is correct that the opinion by Chief Justice Burger was not joined by other members of the Court. It is also important to note that the Chief Justice's resignation from the Supreme Court had nothing to do with this opinion or Bret Clark.

of why the Respondent should not have paid one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for his traffic ticket.

It is the Bar's position that this failure to meet procedural deadlines resulted in the filing of frivolous This position is supported by Chief Justice Burger pleadings. in his blistering opinion which noted that the Respondent had:

> ... demonstrated a contempt for the Florida Courts and the system of justice by repeatedly ignoring filing deadlines and by raising patently frivolous claims.

> > Clark v. Florida, 106 S.Ct 1784 (1986).

The Referee was also of the opinion that the Respondent's acts were untimely and frivolous. The Referee explained that Clark:

. petitioned for certiorari to the Fifth District Court of Appeals five months subsequent to the date of the order. The Rules of Appellate Procedure unequivocally provides that the petition filed within 30 days. Although Respondent be changed his address and failed to advise the court of same, he persisted undeterred. Respondent then filed a Motion for Rehearing outside of the time limits prescribed, mistakenly believing he had extra time for mailing. Although Mr. Clark claims this mistake to be common among other attorneys he should have at that point ceased his efforts. He had failed to comply with mandatory rules which all attorneys and litigants are bound by. The Fifth District Court of Appeals recognized the foregoing and consequently awarded the Attorney General's office attorney's fees. I believe that such an action was extraordinary and certainly in the same vein as former Chief Justice Burger's act.

Report of Referee p5.

These comments by the Referee on the Respondent's inability to follow procedural rules are substantiated in Chief Justice Burger's opinion where the Chief Justice carefully set forth the lower Court procedures. This opinion was entered into evidence

by the Bar. Thus, the Referee had ample evidentiary support for Clark's failure to meet these deadlines and the extraordinary actions taken not only by Chief Justice Burger but also by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

Disciplinary Rule 1-102 (A) (6) requires that an attorney shall not engage in conduct that adversely reflects on an attorney's fitness to practice law. It is the Bar's position that by failing to follow the simple procedural rules and by his advancement of unmeritorious pleadings, the Respondent has engaged in conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

Of note is Chief Justice Burger's comment that had Clark committed this type of activity prior to being admitted to The Florida Bar the Board of Bar Examiners "would plainly have been entitled to conclude that he was unfit to be a member of the Bar". <u>Clark v. Florida</u>, at 1787 (Chief Justice Burger concurring).

The Respondent in his brief attempts to show this Court why he did certain things during his unsuccessful appeal of his traffic citation. Each argument, that the Respondent has raised regarding the steps that he took to fight this ticket, has already been rejected, not only by the Fifth District Court of Appeals but also by the Supreme Court of the United States. <u>Clark v. Florida</u>. Therefore, this Honorable Court should once again accept the argument that the Respondent's actions in this instance were frivolous and in violation of Disciplinary Rule

1-102(A)(6) and Rule 7-102(A)(2) of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

B. THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT THE RESPONDENT HAS VIOLATED DISCIPLINARY RULE 1-102(A)(6) AND DISCIPLINARY RULE 8-102(B) OF THE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY REGARDING HIS UNSUBSTANTIATED DEROGATORY REMARKS INVOLVING MEMBERS OF THE FLORIDA JUDICIARY.

Disciplinary Rule 8-102(B) requires that a lawyer shall not knowingly make false accusations against a member of the judiciary. As explained above, Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) states that a lawyer shall not engage in conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

The Report of Referee as to Count II of the Bar's complaint is enlightening as to the charges leveled against the Respondent and as to why the Respondent should be found to have violated the Code of Professional Responsibility. The Referee explained as to Count II that:

> The Respondent is charged with knowingly accusing Judge Barad and the other Judges of Judicial the Eleventh Circuit of participating in a RICO conspiracy, where allegations were without basis. such Respondent complains that it is his ethical duty to advise the public of judicial impropriety and The Florida Bar is in essence preventing him from doing so. I cannot agree For instance, Mr. Clark with Respondent. based his accusation that Judge Barad engaged in parte communications with the ex defendant's attorney, since his client witnessed the two in conversation. He admits that she did not have any knowledge of the content of the conversation. Further, that Judge Barad engaged in mail fraud since the defendants presented pleadings containing false information which were ruled on by the court and placed in mail receptacles. I do not believe the mail fraud statute contemplates such an interpretation which

stretches the limits of credibility. Mr. Clark also asserts Judge Barad's involvement in the conspiracy since he ruled against his matters which without client on were question. Surely, adverse rulings can be to mistakes of law attributed and consequently remedied by the appellate court, they were in this case. The list of as accusations continued without any provable support from Mr. Clark.

The record reflects that The Florida Bar submitted into evidence a certified copy of the Second Amended Complaint that contained the unfounded allegations against Judge Barad and the entire Eleventh Circuit Court. The Respondent also admitted at the hearing that he did indeed draft and file this Second Amended Complaint. Thus, the Referee had ample evidence to show that certain derogatory allegations were made against the judiciary.

The only question remaining then is did the Referee have support in the record for his finding that these allegations were unsubstantiated. The Respondent admitted during the final hearing of this matter that part of the allegations in said complaint relied upon a certain ex-parte conversation between Judge Barad and the oposing counsel. The Respondent admitted that he had no knowledge of the content of that conversation but that he relied on his clients' representations of the content even though she did not overhear the conversation.

It is The Florida Bar's contention that the Respondent had no substantiation whatsoever for his allegations against Judge Barad and the commission of RICO violations. The Referee relied upon this lack of substantiation to find that the Respondent violated Disciplinary Rule 8-102(B) and by violating Disciplinary

Rule 8-102(B) to have exercised a course of conduct that adversely reflected on his fitness to practice law in violation of Disciplinary Rule 1-102 (A) (6).

II

THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES IS NOT VIOLATED BY DISCIPLINING AN ATTORNEY FOR UNSUBSTAN-TIATED DEROGATORY REMARKS OR BY DISCIPLINING AN ATTORNEY FOR FILING FRIVOLOUS PLEADINGS.

The Respondent contends that to discipline him for the acts which caused this instant action would be a violation of his First Amendment Right to freedom of speech. This is simply not the case.

This Honorable Court was faced with this precise issue on at least one prior occasion. <u>The Florida Bar v. Shimek</u>, 284 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1973). In <u>Shimek</u> this Court held that the First Amendment does not prevent the disciplining of an attorney for accusations against the judiciary of the State of Florida. <u>Id</u> at 689. In light of this position this Court has not been reluctant to publicly reprimand attorneys who make false accusations against the judiciary. <u>The Florida Bar v. Weinberger</u>, 397 So.2d 661, 662 (Fla. 1981); <u>Cerf v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 1071, 1074 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>Cerf</u> this Court noted that:

"It is one thing to allow an attorney his truthful criticisms against our judicial system. However, it is quite another to allow an attorney a poetic license to falsely slander a circuit judge with untrue accusations . . ."

<u>Id</u> at 1074.

In the same vein the Louisiana Supreme Court once explained

It is not the genuineness of an attorney's belief in the truth of his allegations, but the belief reasonableness of that and the good faith of the attorney in asserting it that determines whether or not one has "knowingly" made false accusations against a judge within the meaning of DR 8-102(B). Consequently, where it is shown that an attorney knew, or in good faith of falsity of should have known, the his accusations, that attorney's unsubstantiated, subjective belief in the truth of those accusations, however genuine, will not excuse his violation of DR-8-102(B).

that:

Louisiana State Bar Association v. Karst, 428 So.2d 406, 409 (La. 1983)

The Respondent relies upon Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. (1964), for the proposition that an attorney cannot be 64 disciplined for derogatory remarks about the judiciary. However, Garrison stands for the proposition that an attorney cannot be disciplined for truthful statements. Id. The remarks about Judge Barad and the entire 11th Judicial Circuit being involved RICO conspiracy and/or mail in а fraud can hardly be characterized as truthful and the Respondent's reliance on Garrison is therefore misplaced.

The Respondent during the final hearing of this matter stated that he had "no objection to the recommendation for a public reprimand if the Court finds that I violated these ethics rules". Therefore, the Respondent's argument that it is a violation of the First Amendment to discipline him is not consistent with his prior position in this case. Furthermore, an argument could be raised that the Respondent waived this constitutional contention by his prior admission.

In any event it is clear that this Honorable Court would not violate the precepts of the First Amendment by disciplining the Respondent for his unethical acts.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the Referee correctly imposed a public reprimand, and would urge this court to affirm same.